

GBIF Capacity Development Framework

GBIF Nodes

Version 1, March 2024



Table of Contents

Colophon	1
Suggested citation	1
Contributors	1
Licence	1
Persistent URI	1
Document control	1
Cover image	1
Introduction	1
1. Capacity development objectives	2
1.1. GBIF's vision, mission and priority areas	2
1.2. GBIF values and how they apply to capacity development	3
1.3. Developing the capacity to mobilize biodiversity data through GBIF	4
1.4. Developing the capacity to use GBIF-mediated biodiversity data	5
2. Implementation levels and progress monitoring	6
2.1. Individual-level capacity development	7
2.2. Institutional-level capacity development	8
2.3. National-level capacity development	9
2.4. Regional-level capacity development	10
3. Capacity development tools and approaches	11
3.1. Supporting node development through collaboration	11
3.2. Capacity development programmes	12
3.3. Community of practice support and development	13
3.4. Training strategy and learning resources	14
Conclusion	16

Colophon

Suggested citation

GBIF Capacity Development Framework (2024) Copenhagen: GBIF Secretariat. https://doi.org/10.35035/doc-wvg9-n274

Contributors

Mélianie Raymond, Maheva Bagard Laursen & Laura Anne Russell

Licence

The document *GBIF Capacity Development Framework* is licensed under Creative Commons Attribution-ShareAlike 4.0 Unported License.

Persistent URI

https://doi.org/10.35035/doc-wvg9-n274

Document control

Version 1.0, March 2024

Based on the GBIF Capacity Enhancement Framework (2015).

Cover image

Training participants at the 2023 Global Nodes Training, Canberra, Australia. Photo 2023 Mélianie Raymond | GBIF Secretariat, licensed under CC BY 2.0.

Introduction

The framework acts as a road map for the GBIF Secretariat, Participant nodes, and the wider GBIF community, directing capacity development efforts throughout the strategic period spanning from 2023 to 2027. GBIF aims for—and anticipates—a scaling up of capacity development work within this period. The tools and approaches presented here are adaptable to enable the implementation of this framework in line with the opportunities arising during this period.

The Kunming-Montreal Global Biodiversity Framework includes targets for 2030 that directly address the need to make data, information and knowledge for decision-making available (Target 21), as well as the need for strengthened capacity-building and development, technology transfer, and technical and scientific cooperation (Target 20). In addition, the UNESCO Recommendation on Open Science provides an international framework for open science policy and practice, aiming to "reduce technological and knowledge divides between and within countries." The recommendation asks UNESCO Member States to invest in infrastructure for open science, as well as training, education, digital literacy and capacity building to support open science. These two instruments provide an important global policy context for expanding capacity development actions through GBIF.

GBIF's capacity development work is framed under two core objectives:

- developing the capacity to mobilize biodiversity data through GBIF
- · developing the capacity to use GBIF-mediated biodiversity data

GBIF seeks to embed capacity on nested levels from individual, to institutional, national and regional scales, helping to strengthen the network as a whole. Defined goals and indicators will help GBIF to monitor progress on each level, guiding further implementation. This monitoring, together with ongoing needs assessment processes, periodic evaluation of capacity development programmes and actions, forms the basis of reporting to the community on progress made.

The wide array of capacity development tools and approaches in use across the GBIF community are broadly categorized as: support for node development through collaboration; capacity development programmes; further development of the community of practice; and training and learning resources. Together, these empower a broad community of experts to contribute to capacity development goals and enable the flow of expertise between the capacity development levels, supporting the necessary scaling up of capacity development work and community growth over the current strategic period.

GBIF's capacity development activities embody its agreed values, contributing to trust and transparency, collaboration and collective benefit, diversity and inclusiveness, innovation, and integrity. Embedding these values in capacity development activities ensures that growth in the community engaged through this work builds on the community's existing strengths that have proven a solid foundation for capacity development to date.

1. Capacity development objectives

Capacity is broadly defined by the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) as "the ability of individuals, institutions, and societies to perform functions, solve problems and set and achieve objectives in a sustainable manner." Capacity development refers to "the processes whereby people, organizations, and society as a whole unleash, strengthen, create, adapt and maintain capacity over time." These definitions, widely used in the field of international cooperation, are applicable to GBIF.

The GBIF Strategic Framework 2023-2027 sets out the global vision and mission, together with four strategic priority areas to achieve these (see §1.1). Capacity development, while emphasized especially in Priority Area 3, will contribute to GBIF's success across all areas of the strategic framework.

1.1. GBIF's vision, mission and priority areas

GBIF's vision: A world in which the best possible biodiversity data underpins research, policy, and decisions.

GBIF mission: To mobilize the data, skills, and technologies needed to make comprehensive biodiversity information freely available for science and decisions addressing biodiversity loss and sustainable development.

- · Priority Area 1: Science and Research
- · Priority area 2: Policy and Partnerships
- Priority area 3: Community and Capacity
- Priority area 4: Infrastructure and Data Products

GBIF has defined values within the strategic framework that underpin all efforts to advance our work and that together embody the global GBIF community, applying to the Secretariat, to the global nodes network, to participants, to data publishing institutions, and to data users. These values guide how we develop capacity development actions and implement at all levels, as in the examples below).

1.2. GBIF values and how they apply to capacity development

Trust and Transparency: Expectations that all decisions and processes are open; that data is properly attributed and of the highest-possible quality; and that infrastructures are robust, documented and persistent.

Examples

- All opportunities will be shared through open calls with transparent selection processes based on predefined criteria and involving experts from the wider community.
- We provide guidance and support where necessary to grant holding institutions to develop project management capacity based on transparent processes.
- All contributions to capacity development actions will be attributed to the individuals, institutions, nodes and regions involved.

Collaboration and Collective Benefit: A recognition that only through a spirit of cooperation can we fulfil GBIF's mission by sharing skills, data, tools and experiences, avoiding duplication, and growing a global community of practice GBIF's capacity development approach will be based on facilitating the exchange of experience, data and technology between partners.

Examples

- Training actions engage local trainers and mentors when possible, encourage replication and ongoing knowledge-sharing, and make use of training materials are designed with reuse and adaptation in mind.
- We work through partnerships to support the development of skills that are either fundamental to, or extensions of, the core skills in which GBIF develops capacity. The endorsement model through our existing network of nodes is used throughout calls for capacity development actions to encourage national and regional coordination.
- We give full visibility to partners and encourage them to give visibility to GBIF in return through roles, branding policy, and mutual credit.

Diversity and Inclusiveness: A commitment to engage and welcome people of all nationalities, cultures, genders and backgrounds while recognizing all contributions to our global community.

Examples

- We recognize and focus on capacity development and community engagement in regions and countries where we have known participation and data gaps.
- A code of conduct is promoted through all capacity development activities.
- Selection criteria that encourage diversity are included in all processes.

- We facilitate and encourage translation and local adaptation of all training materials and documentation to support their uptake.
- Capacity development actions contribute to outreach, for example through the
 participation of observers and new institutions and countries in actions at all levels, and
 promote full participation in GBIF governance on the long term for the sustainability of GBIF
 as a global infrastructure and network.
- We support capacity development through regional groupings that build cohesion through shared priorities, languages, biodiversity.

Innovation: An ambition to lead by example in advancing open science and data services and in adopting novel techniques for collaboration and learning, recognizing that simplicity is often the best means of reaching our goals.

Examples

- As much as possible, we promote the use of open-source software and tools in all capacity development actions and avoid creating any dependencies on products without open licences.
- We investigate and adopt new tools and processes to support capacity development, including guided capacity self-assessments and recognition of skills through digital badges.

Integrity: An assurance that professional norms and scientific integrity are respected; and that data-sharing safeguards the rights of indigenous peoples and local communities as well as potential risks to sensitive species.

Examples

- Capacity development actions align with data mobilization guidelines that are continually updated to promote appropriate data sharing, attribution, licensing and risk awareness.
- Capacity development actions are led by the institutions or countries that are to benefit from the actions, ensuring that they are aligned with self-assessed capacity needs, and make use of local expertise and systems.

The main objectives of capacity development in GBIF, covering both technical and functional capacities, are to develop the capacity to mobilize biodiversity data through GBIF and the capacity to use GBIF-mediated data in research and decision-making.

1.3. Developing the capacity to mobilize biodiversity data through GBIF

The ability to manage, standardize and publish biodiversity data

This is essential to reducing knowledge gaps and ensuring a stable foundation for data mobilization through the network (Priority Areas 1 and 3). As GBIF evolves and adapts data standards and models (Priority Area 4), further capacity development will be needed to support the uptake of new data publishing methods by its current network, as well as to integrate new data publishing communities.

Growing awareness at the policy level of the importance of enhanced access to primary biodiversity data, for example, to support implementation and monitoring of the Kunming-Montreal Global Biodiversity Framework (Priority Area 2), strengthens the justification for developing capacity to mobilize data.

Progress towards this objective will be demonstrated in the growth and continued activity of the community of data publishing institutions. Enriching GBIF's data model will increase the diversity among institutions in the data publishing community. Ultimately, progress will be reflected in the completeness and richness of the data being published.

Institutional capacity for data management varies widely among the different institutions that produce and hold biodiversity data. Capacity varies between different regions of the world and also between different types and sizes of biodiversity-related institutions. Supportive international policy frameworks can strengthen the enabling environment for institutions within and beyond GBIF's current network to provide open access to their biodiversity data. While data publishing in GBIF is on the institutional level, it depends on the skills and engagement of individuals within the institutions, as well as capacity at the level of the Participant nodes that assist with engagement, provide endorsement, and often offer technical support.

As a network of networks, Participant-led efforts to promote data mobilization and support the development of institutional capacity within their countries and networks remain essential to allow capacity support to scale towards a truly global network. This necessitates continued support for capacity development within an expanding network of Participant nodes.

Efforts to design and implement capacity development actions that target the levelling-up of institutional capacity in currently under-represented regions and among under-represented data publishing communities should continue to be a priority for the GBIF network. Such efforts should reinforce the capacity of existing Participant nodes—and encourage the development of new nodes—to ensure sustainable capacity support to the growing data publishing network. Regional support teams extend support beyond the nodes network to enable new institutions from non-Participant countries to engage in data mobilization and use, growing the community of practice that forms the foundation for formal Participation in the future.

1.4. Developing the capacity to use GBIF-mediated biodiversity data

The ability to analyse and use biodiversity data accessible through GBIF in scientific research and decision-making

In the current strategic period, GBIF focuses on increasing the relevance and diversifying the uptake of GBIF-mediated data for scientific research (Priority Area 1). This requires capacity development through partnerships with academia and higher education, including thematic research communities with limited previous knowledge of GBIF. In addition, GBIF seeks to develop the capacity to use data to support policy responses addressing societal challenges around planetary change. This includes contributing to local, national, regional and global biodiversity-related goals and indicators, and partnering to support the application of data in policy-relevant information tools and products (Priority Area 2).

Progress towards this objective will be seen in the breadth and representativeness of the growing body of scientific literature that cites the use of GBIF-mediated data. GBIF maintains an ongoing literature tracking programme, which identifies research uses and citations, and groups these into thematic research areas. Literature tracking can highlight geographic gaps and targets for

development in GBIF's research user communities. These research uses ultimately depend on capacity at the level of individual scientists and students involved, but are greatly facilitated by the development of methodologies and norms for using open biodiversity data within a research field and the academic institutions involved.

Progress in capacity to use GBIF-mediated data for policy objectives may be tracked through examples of uptake in national policy reports, regulations and indicators, including those provided for implementation of global biodiversity-related conventions, although this is likely to be less quantitative than metrics from research citations.

Based on thematic priorities, as GBIF works more closely with research communities to develop areas of scientific relevance for open biodiversity data (such as in human health, freshwater ecology, and soil biodiversity, among others), capacity development actions should target the development of necessary skills at the level of students and researchers. Such actions should also address the known geographic gaps in the user community, and serve to promote more global engagement of users in line with GBIF's global scope and vision. While guidance and training materials on accessing GBIF mediated data for a variety of use cases are available, it is beyond GBIF's scope to provide training in all the underlying data literacy skills needed for research use of open biodiversity data.

Participant nodes support user communities through a variety of capacity development actions, often in direct partnership with academic institutions that use GBIF within teaching at various levels. Nodes also play a role in supporting data flows into biodiversity-related reporting processes and other decisions. Capacity development actions to support the nodes in their role in coordinating national networks and engaging with user communities both at the research and policy levels will continue to help with the scalability of approaches.

2. Implementation levels and progress monitoring

Capacity development actions are implemented on multiple levels in the GBIF network and involve a broad community of individuals. Communities of practice have been defined by sociologists Wegner and Trayner as "groups of people who share a concern or passion for something they do and learn how to do it better as they interact regularly." This document will refer to the GBIF community of practice as an inclusive term for the many practitioners engaged in activities contributing to GBIF's mission who collaborate and learn from each other, often through activities such as mentoring, training, translation, and promoting open biodiversity data.

Capacity development actions can be led by volunteers in the community of practice, participating institutions, the Participant nodes, and GBIF Secretariat, and are often implemented through partnerships bridging these groups. Capacity development is frequently combined with outreach and engagement work, contributing to expanding the GBIF network. This framework is, therefore, an essential component of GBIF's evolving participation and engagement strategy.

Evaluation is integral to capacity development, and should involve and inform all stakeholders in a transparent way to enable them to guide future action and fully benefit from progress. In addition to ongoing monitoring, all the capacity development approaches that GBIF employs will include plans for periodic evaluation, as well as their own set of delivery indicators to track progress towards achieving specific outcomes, enabling the results to inform planning of future implementation. These evaluation processes will be necessarily specific to the programmes or actions they target, their goals, and the stakeholders involved, and are therefore not described in detail in this document.

This framework describes overarching goals for capacity development on the main implementation levels that GBIF targets: the individual, institutional, national, and regional levels. It further outlines

monitoring indicators associated with each capacity development level that can help track overall progress and guide further implementation.



Figure 1. Nested implementation levels and goals for capacity development in GBIF

2.1. Individual-level capacity development

The goal is to strengthen and grow GBIF's community of practice: individuals with the skills, knowledge, and motivation to share and reuse biodiversity data for research, conservation and sustainable development, and to support others participating in the community.

The GBIF community of practice has emerged from the global network of biodiversity practitioners driven by their willingness to collaborate, share knowledge, tools, and standards, and support each other in progressing towards the common goal of open biodiversity data contributing to research, nature conservation, and sustainable development.

The GBIF Secretariat and Participant nodes have a role in supporting interactions within the community of practice and encouraging its development and growth. Key components of this are ensuring that there are open opportunities and transparent processes for members of the community to contribute to GBIF's capacity development actions on all scales; that collaboration is central in these approaches; and that contributions are made visible for appropriate recognition and attribution.

Monitoring progress

The community, comprising all individuals globally active in sharing and reusing data through GBIF and sharing their skills with others, is much larger than GBIF can feasibly track. The following metrics can help to demonstrate growth in the community in specific areas:

Tracking participation in GBIF's volunteer community, comprising mentors, trainers,

translators, reviewers and biodiversity open data ambassadors, will help track strong involvement from individuals in helping to expand our community of practice.

GBIF tracks **participation in training courses**. This can include skills certification in the form of digital badges for some courses. Tracking the growth in individuals having participated in courses as well as those having attained formal certification are useful metrics to show skills development across the community.

As part of the literature tracking process, GBIF tracks the number and country affiliation of authors involved in articles citing the use of GBIF-mediated data. This metric is helpful in demonstrating the growth of individual and institutional capacity within the use of GBIF-mediated data in research, including the geographic distribution of the user community.

These metrics will be regularly reviewed in terms of overall growth, as well as geographic spread, to help guide capacity development into under-represented communities and areas.

2.2. Institutional-level capacity development

The goal is to build partnerships that drive the institutionalization of biodiversity data mobilization and the appropriate use of GBIF-mediated data within a global network of institutions, including academia, natural history collections, research institutions, national government departments and agencies, non-governmental and inter-governmental organizations, among others.

Data is published to GBIF through registered institutions, not directly from individuals. Individual researchers may publish datasets through the institutions with which they are affiliated, or via journals to which they contribute. Observations from individuals are submitted through networks registered as GBIF data publishers. An important focus of capacity development must therefore be at the institutional level, ensuring that organizations have the means and motivation to mobilize data.

Focusing on the institutional level is important, not only for scalability, but also in order to build persistent engagement and practices that span across multiple departments and individuals within the organization or agency.

A growing number of formal academic higher education programmes now encourage the mobilization and use of GBIF-mediated data: see, for example, BioData, ecoEd and Benin international Masters in Biodiversity Informatics. These and other examples demonstrate how capacity at the institutional level can cascade to developing the capacity of students to use and publish biodiversity data in the future.

Monitoring progress

Tracking growth in the number of institutions that are registered and endorsed as data publishers is relatively easy and can give an indication of growth in institutional capacity to mobilize data through GBIF. It is much harder to track the institutionalization of data use. GBIF documents guiding examples of the use of GBIF-mediated data in academic teaching but could consider developing new mechanisms to track and evaluate this type of capacity, such as tracking the development of curricula that include content on data mobilization and use through GBIF. Better engagement with capacity development within academic institutions would be greatly valuable for achieving the goals of this framework, but is beyond the scope of what can be tracked at present.

The following metrics can help to demonstrate development of institutional capacity:

- The number of data publishing institutions with at least one dataset is easily tracked in GBIF and helps show where there is capacity at the institutional level for data publishing, noting that in many cases, nodes are supporting this capacity, for example by hosting datasets on national platforms.
- Monitoring the number of institutions with affiliated authors of literature citing the use of GBIF-mediated data will give some indication of where there is institutional capacity to use GBIF-mediated data.

These metrics will be regularly reviewed in terms of overall growth, as well as geographic spread, to help guide capacity development into under-represented communities and areas.

2.3. National-level capacity development

The goal is to develop national biodiversity information facilities that provide the coordination and enabling environment for data publishing and use at the national level, and are the core of GBIF's governance and participation model.

GBIF supports the development of national biodiversity information facilities as collaborative networks of people and institutions that collectively form infrastructure for delivering biodiversity information to relevant stakeholders. This work often begins with engagement and capacity development at the institutional level, with a view to working with institutional partners to encourage formal national Participation in GBIF and the establishment of a Participant node through a participatory approach as a means to ensure government level awareness and support for biodiversity data mobilization and use through GBIF.

When formally joining GBIF through signature of the GBIF Memorandum of Understanding (MOU), countries agree to establish a Participant node—that is, a team designated to coordinate a network of people and institutions that produces, manages and uses biodiversity data and collectively builds a national infrastructure for delivering biodiversity information. The allocation of resources to the node is the responsibility of the participating country and is independent of GBIF's core budget. Nodes are supported by organizational arrangements and informatics solutions and work to improve the availability and usefulness of biodiversity data for research, policy and decision—making.

Nodes vary greatly across the network, with a range of different hosting institutions and contacts, scales of operation and available budgets. Developing capacity at the node level, and continuing to lower the technical threshold for active participation in GBIF as global infrastructure, is critical for GBIF's scalability. Nodes need to provide a stable foundation for data mobilization and use within the expanding network and for the benefit of GBIF as a whole. To achieve this, nodes themselves need to have the capacity to perform the functions expected of them.

Monitoring progress

Monitoring the fluctuation in the number of formal Participants in GBIF, as well as the establishment of new Participant nodes, helps inform the development of national capacity in the network. Maintaining active nodes and Participants is also a key focus for this framework. GBIF also provides a capacity self assessment tool to support nodes in monitoring their own capacity development over time.

GBIF monitors the density of active data publishing institutions across all

countries/economies, regardless of their Participation status, which can help demonstrate where capacity development is contributing to greater engagement of institutions.

Tracking **demonstrated activity from national nodes** (monitored on an annual basis) in the following areas also helps to identify countries that may be at risk of disengagement due to low capacity or engagement:

- · Participation of the node (or node staff) in key GBIF-related events and activities
- · Timely endorsement of data publishers
- · Growth in the data publisher network endorsed by the node
- Number of listed node staff

These metrics will be regularly reviewed in terms of overall growth, as well as geographic spread, to help guide capacity development into under-represented communities and areas. The node-related indicators will be monitored together with the Nodes Steering Group to help target communications and actions aiming at developing node capacity.

2.4. Regional-level capacity development

The goal is to develop the capacity to coordinate and raise the visibility of the GBIF community of practice and network on the regional level so that it can expand engagement on all other levels, and ultimately support GBIF in engaging in the regional-level biodiversity agenda.

GBIF's nodes committee established six regional sub-committees recognizing the importance of strengthening collaboration and exchange between nodes on the regional level. These regional groupings can reflect alignment in priorities and languages, and, in some cases, regional biodiversity policies or agendas and working culture and norms. On the practical level, regional meetings simplify engagement by reducing travel distances and time zone differences.

It is important to recognize that the regions vary greatly in terms of the density of data available and published through GBIF, the level of use of GBIF-mediated data, and the number of GBIF Participants. GBIF implements capacity programmes targeting under-represented regions that contribute to developing the capacity at all levels and engaging new GBIF Participants via a regional approach. It is also important to note that capacity varies greatly within regions, such that capacity development actions on the regional level can enable stronger nodes to support less experienced ones.

Distributed GBIF regional support teams provide capacity support on the regional level, working in close alignment with the Participant nodes and volunteers. These teams are made up of part-time contractors based in the regions they serve. They focus their efforts on providing support in countries where GBIF does not yet have Participant nodes. Their work covers engaging data holding institutions, supporting data publishing, developing skills and engagement within the community of practice and providing feedback to GBIF on regional capacity needs. They can also provide training and support to nodes within the region upon request. Their work is aligned with GBIF's work programmes and recommendations provided by the GBIF regional representatives.

Monitoring progress

Maintaining a regional view on progress across this capacity development framework will help ensure that approaches can be tailored to address regional needs and priorities. GBIF will aggregate the metrics mentioned for the other capacity development levels to the regional level

for this purpose. These regional views can then be discussed with the regional node representatives and regional support team to guide further capacity development.

3. Capacity development tools and approaches

GBIF employs and documents a variety of methods that contribute to objectives of this framework, and are implemented in line with GBIF's values.

3.1. Supporting node development through collaboration

The GBIF Participant Node Managers Committee serves as both an advisory committee to the Governing Board and as "a forum for sharing information about the status and best practices of Participants' nodes" (see Terms of Reference). Nodes play an essential role in developing the capacity of institutions and individuals within their network and in connecting to the national and regional levels. The nodes must also evolve their scope to keep pace with changes within GBIF itself and in the broader biodiversity landscape. GBIF places strong emphasis on capacity development support for the nodes through exchange of experience and expertise, as described in Table 1.

Table 1: Tools and approaches supporting node development through collaboration

Global and regional nodes meetings

Description	Contributions to capacity development
The nodes committee organizes meetings that alternate annually between global nodes meetings and regional meetings. These meetings are led by node representatives at global and regional levels, with support from the Secretariat.	Meetings involve sharing work updates, training on network developments, fostering the nodes community, enhancing regional collaboration, and engaging potential partners from non-participating countries when support is accessible.

Capacity Enhancement Support Programme (CESP)

Description	Contributions to capacity development
Since 2014, this programme offers small grants to co-fund capacity development projects exclusively for GBIF Participants. Annual calls for proposals fund collaborative projects between nodes that combine mentoring, regional events, training, and documentation production for capacity enhancement.	CESP targets GBIF Participants' capacity needs through global and regional collaboration. It aligns with the capacity self-assessment, fosters sharing of experience, and helps establish new nodes through partnerships and mentorship.

Onboarding programme

Description

GBIF provides a series of support activities to welcome newly appointed Node Managers to the community. This includes welcome letters, a buddy system to pair new Node Managers with more experienced colleagues, and orientation activities.

Contributions to capacity development

The onboarding programme helps integrate new Node Managers into the GBIF community, enhance their awareness of tools and benefits open to them, and promote active participation in the network for efficient node establishment.

Node Awards

Description

Starting in 2023, the GBIF Node Awards scheme provides visibility and recognition for node-led achievements through biennial, non-monetary awards.

Contributions to capacity development

The awards process contributes to capacity development by providing an incentive for nodes to demonstrate their progress and innovations, as well as generating guiding examples to inspire replication across the nodes community.

Technical support hour for GBIF nodes

Description

Recognizing their crucial role in supporting data mobilization and use, the Secretariat's Data Products team offers regular open office hours for node staff. These drop-in sessions focus on practical topics, facilitating Q&A sessions and creating reusable resources for addressing network questions.

Contributions to capacity development

The technical support hour focuses on developing the capacity of node staff to serve as technical experts and help desk in support of data mobilization and use in their networks.

3.2. Capacity development programmes

GBIF has run various capacity development programmes since its inception, with the scale and scope of these programmes expanding over time. These programmes are centred around open calls for proposals and combine other capacity development activities, such as training workshops and webinars. Implementation is supported by the GBIF community of practice and Participant nodes that assist in promoting the calls, reviewing applications, providing mentoring and training support, and often partnering in projects. The role and types of programmes currently in use are described in table 2.

Table 2: Capacity development through programmes

Biodiversity Information for Development (BID)

Description

Launched in 2015, the BID programme aims to improve biodiversity data availability and accessibility in developing countries, to support national and global objectives on conservation and sustainable development. It supports projects selected following an open call process, with training and technical guidance provided by GBIF, regional support teams and partners. The programme is funded primarily by the European Union.

Contributions to capacity development

The BID programme aims to enhance all levels of capacity (individual, institutional, national and regional) for effective mobilization and use of biodiversity data in research and policy in developing countries, through the nurturing of communities of practice in open data mobilization and use.

Hosted portals

Description

The GBIF hosted portals programme delivers simple, customizable portals to support GBIF Participant nodes, data publishing networks and institutions. These simple websites are hosted and maintained on the GBIF infrastructure and complement other more complex tools available in the network. Participation in the programme is free of charge and applications are welcome at any time.

Contributions to capacity development

The programme lowers the technical threshold for maintaining a branded web presence displaying a targeted subset of GBIF-mediated data. Community calls organized by the Secretariat foster collaboration among portal groups, encouraging knowledge sharing and feature innovation.

Other Participant-led capacity development actions

Description

GBIF Participants lead many capacity development programmes and initiatives that range in scale from local workshops to international funding programmes. GBIF facilitates such actions by providing access to training resources and guidance materials, supporting the organization of training workshops and engaging volunteer mentors and trainers.

Contributions to capacity development

The Secretariat supports the implementation of Participant-led capacity development actions that are aligned with GBIF's vision, mission and strategic priority areas.

3.3. Community of practice support and development

GBIF has defined roles within a broad community of GBIF volunteers to assist them in contributing effectively and to ensure recognition for their contributions. According to the 2023 Deloitte Access Economics valuation and assessment of the impact of the GBIF network, the value of time contributed by volunteers through various activities such as translation or mentoring is worth nearly €1 million per year.

GBIF's regional support teams, comprised of contractors who work part-time from within their target regions, further assist the development of the community of practice, particularly in non-Participant countries. This work was started in response to recommendations in CODATA's Twenty-Year Review of GBIF, including strengthening the nodes by stabilizing and extending the regional networks. These

regional support teams complement the work done by community volunteers and work in close collaboration with the nodes and the elected regional representatives to strengthen the coordination of regional participation in GBIF.

Table 3: Supporting the development of the community of practice

GBIF volunteer community

Description

GBIF assigns roles to volunteers contributing as mentors and trainers, biodiversity open data ambassadors, reviewers and translators. Volunteers assist in developing and delivering training, speaking on GBIF's behalf at relevant conferences and meetings, providing impartial reviews and feedback on applications to programmes, and translating materials and content to make GBIF fully accessible to our global community.

Contributions to capacity development

Mentors and trainers help others within the community of practice to build the skills needed to achieve the network's common goals by volunteering their knowledge and expertise. Ambassadors advocate best practices in open sharing and transparent use of biodiversity data and promote GBIF in national and regional venues. Translators reduce linguistic barriers to support effective participation in capacity development actions. Reviewers provide impartial guidance in reviewing proposals and their feedback to applicants helps to develop capacity for project preparation and implementation. All volunteers develop their own capacity through their participation in these roles.

Regional support teams

Description

The regional support teams aid in the development of active communities of practice with the organization of online training workshops; provide technical assistance to data publishers by helping administrating regional cloud IPTs, reviewing the quality of datasets prepared by new GBIF publishers and organizing regular open office hours; and support the discovery and engagement of biodiversity data holding institutions by updating the Global Registry of Scientific Collections (GRSciColl) and establishing contact with data holders to communicate the benefits of open data sharing.

Contributions to capacity development

This supports the development of individual and institutional capacity in non-GBIF Participant countries and helps pilot new GBIF-led initiatives to assess impact. Working in close collaboration with the GBIF Secretariat and the regional representatives to ensure the alignment of their work with GBIF-led initiatives, they maximize the reach of the GBIF Secretariat to support the development of dynamic communities of practice.

3.4. Training strategy and learning resources

GBIF offers a blended learning environment that provides reusable and easily accessible learning opportunities, both online and in-person, that can be implemented across all levels of this capacity development framework. The GBIF Secretariat guides the development and maintenance of curricula and a catalogue of resources that further the goals to mobilize data through GBIF and to use GBIF-

mediated data in research and decision-making. The resources exist in the form of courses, tutorials, instructional videos, and digital documentation. The Secretariat and nodes collaborate with a range of volunteers, community experts, and higher education in the development, delivery, promotion and use of materials and courses. The Secretariat partners with established external groups to provide essential foundational skills that are needed in the community.

Table 4: Training and documentation

Curriculum development

Description

Since 2016, when the first version of the data mobilization workshop was developed for the BID programme, the Secretariat has focused on working with GBIF community experts to develop training materials that are based on defined learning objects and an educational rubric with measures of success to enable certification for selected courses. The content is modular-based, designed to be reusable and is easily accessible online. Additional features include use cases and practical exercises; preand post-course activities; and pre- and post-course evaluations.

Contributions to capacity development

The GBIF method of curriculum development is key in developing and expanding the community of practice. An end result of completing GBIF courses is development of skills at an individual level that translate to the ability to reuse materials and exchange knowledge with colleagues/peers to further develop skills in their institutional and national communities.

Digital documentation

Description

Beyond training materials, the Secretariat Digital-first documentation promotes offers a range of best practice guides knowledge sharing from community experts intended to supplement GBIF's publishing and data use communities. This opportunity to peer-review. This promotes digital-first documentation is on a range of inclusivity and transparency in the process topics relating to biodiversity informatics and and allows quick response to new or expanded open biodiversity data. Text and other content needs from the community with regards to maintained in open GBIF GitHub specific documentation. Additionally, it repositories and published into HTML and PDF expands the community to new users and formats using an open-source publishing thematic communities. toolchain called AsciiDoctor. Support for translations is integrated via Crowdln, which provides a free non-commercial licence that supports the efforts of GBIF's volunteer translator community. GBIF's digital-first documentation is:

- Authored by the community
- · Reviewed by the community
- Consistent
- Versioned
- · Maintained on GitHub
- Updated in a timely manner
- · Licenced with Creative Commons
- Translated in multiple languages

In addition to the best practice guides, the Secretariat develops and maintains technical documentation on GBIF processes, tools, services, and system components. Like the quides, the technical best practice documentation is maintained in GitHub and uses AsciiDoctor.

Contributions to capacity development

data and gives the community at-large an

Data Use Club

Description

promotes interaction between data users and provides them with tools for developing skills in data use.

Contributions to capacity development

Through quarterly webinars, the Data Use Club Participation in the Data Use Club strengthens data use and open data principles among research communities and improves data literacy at the individual level.

Conclusion

This framework updates the 2015 GBIF Capacity Enhancement Framework and serves as an inclusive guide for GBIF's capacity development action over the five years of the Strategic Framework 2023-2027. Capacity development plays an essential role in GBIF, and this framework sets out adaptable tools, approaches and indicators to enable us to scale our activities to meet emerging opportunities and keep track of their impact.

The GBIF Secretariat will apply this framework in its continuing efforts to support node development through collaboration, to design and implement capacity development programmes, to support the community of practice, and to roll out the training strategy and associated learning resources. Participant nodes and other partners are encouraged to use this framework when designing capacity enhancement activities, both within their own context and when defining collaborations with external partners. Potential partners are encouraged to evaluate how the approach described in this framework could align with their priorities and principles, when considering potential capacity enhancement collaboration with the GBIF network. The Community and Capacity team at the GBIF Secretariat is available to provide further information on this framework, how to put it into practice and potential avenues for collaboration.

This framework is shared as a living digital document open for comment and suggested revisions from the GBIF community at any time. This framework will be reviewed for the next strategic planning period starting 2027.